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In the case of Akhmadova and Sadulayeva v. Russia,
The European Court of Human Rights (First Sectimilting as a
Chamber composed of:
Mr  C.L. Rozakis, President
Mrs N. VaJc,
Mr  A. KOVLER,
Mrs E. SEINER,
Mr K. HAJIYEV,
Mr  D. SPIELMANN,
Mr S.E. EBENS judges
and Mr S. NELSEN, Section Registrar
Having deliberated in private on 10 April 2007,
Delivers the following judgment, which was adoptedthat date:

PROCEDURE

1. The case originated in an application (no. 40@8) against the
Russian Federation lodged with the Court under chti34 of the
Convention for the Protection of Human Rights anddamental Freedoms
(“the Convention™) by two Russian nationals, Ms Tma&a Khamidovna
Akhmadova and Ms Larisa Abdulbekovna Sadulayeviae(‘applicants”),
on 31 October 2002.

2. The applicants, who had been granted legalveede represented by
lawyers of the Stichting Russian Justice Initiat{t®RJI"), an NGO based
in the Netherlands with a representative officeRuossia. The Russian
Government (“the Government”) were represented byPM.aptev,
Representative of the Russian Federation at thepean Court of Human
Rights.

3. The applicants alleged that their son and mabed disappeared
after being detained by Russian servicemen in Gheclin March 2001.
They relied on Articles 2, 3, 5, 6 and 13 of then@antion.

4. By a decision of 13 October 2005, the Couriated the application
admissible.

5. The Chamber having decided, after consultivg garties, that no
hearing on the merits was required (Rule 59i8 fine), the parties replied
in writing to each other's observations.
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THE FACTS

I. THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE

6. The applicants were born in 1957 and in 198peetively. They are
residents of Argun, Chechnya. At present theyilivingushetia.

7. The facts of the case, as submitted by thégsarhay be summarised
as follows.

1. Detention of Shamil Akhmadov

8. The first applicant's son, Shamil Said-Khas#&towkhmadov, who
was born on 17 December 1975, married the secqpiccapt in 1992. They
have five children — Layusa, who was born in 19%3zhela, born in 1995,
Khedi, born in 1997, Magomed, born in 1998 anddkdtt born in 2000.
They lived in the town of Argun, about 10 kilometmeast of Grozny, where
Shamil Akhmadov worked as a butcher in the markee first and the
second applicants are housewives.

9. On 10 March 2001 illegal paramilitaries stornaed briefly occupied
the local television station in Argun. Several gregencies also reported
that on the same day a Russian military checkpoirhrgun had come
under attack and sustained casualties.

10. Between 11 and 14 March 2001 the militaryiedrout a “mopping-
up” operation fachistka in the town, apparently in response to the attack
of the previous day. On 13 March 2001 the Interiaws agency reported
that the military commander's office had said it operation had been
aimed at tracking down rebels and criminals, amdlifig weapons and
ammunition. The movement of transport and people reatricted and the
roads from Argun to Shali and Grozny closed. Thenmander's office
reported that the operation had produced “tangibtailts”, including the
detention of “individuals who, according to intgince, may have been
involved in the terrorist acts and murders commditfen Argun]’. The
number of detainees was not reported.

11. Between 12 and 2 p.m. on 12 March 2001 Shaktimadov left his
home at 12 Novaya Street in Argun. Several militagficles, including
armoured personnel carriers (APCs) and police UaZ,cook up positions
in the nearby Gudermesskaya Street. The servicede¢@mined Shamil
Akhmadov. The second applicant, who was informedhef events by a
neighbour, rushed out to see what was going on. salae her husband
surrounded by a group of servicemen, who put hito @n APC. She
submitted the following account of the events:

“On 12 March 2001 ... | went to the dentist's. FHoe previous two months my

husband had remained at home, because he was taftaidlel to Grozny. At first he
wanted to accompany me but then decided to stdyumte. | went with a female
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relative, but as soon as | sat in the chair, thdists wife rushed into the office and
told me that she had seen my husband Shamil beétgingéd in the street. |
immediately ran over but was too late to save him.

He was at the intersection of the road to Guderamesthe road to the suburbs. |
guess he had decided to follow me because thes@utton was less than 500 metres
from the dental clinic. It's not far from our houseaybe 300-400 metres. That day
Shamil was wearing a white T-shirt, black sweatshiavy jacket and birch-coloured
trousers.

From where | was standing | could see three AP@s,Wral truck and one or two
UAZ vehicles. There was a group of armed peoplé,l ko not know exactly how
many. They were wearing milk-grey uniforms, somaempoung and others middle-
aged.

| saw them talking to my husband, but could not enakt what they told him. | do
not know if he showed them his passport, but | kfiomsure that he had his passport
with him. By the time | had run over, they had atig thrown Shamil, like a roll of
cloth, into the APC, and when | reached them, ttleged the APC door and drove
away in the direction of Gudermes. | did not seg ather civilians in the street,
everyone else would have hidden away.”

12. The second applicant said that she then rusbee and, together
with the first applicant, went to the military corander's office, where they
talked to the commander, Nikolay Ivanovich SidonKe told them that
Shamil Akhmadov had not been brought to the commmadffice. For the
next three days both applicants, along with otledatives of the detained
persons, remained in front of the office awaitiregvs of the detainees.

13. According to a report issued by NGO MemorialMarch 2001,
170 people were detained in houses and on theswéérgun as a result
of the mopping-up operation. The relatives of tle¢athees gathered at the
local commander's office. In response to these teyetme Chechnya
Republican Prosecutor Mr Chernov and the Deputy dlayf Grozny
arrived in Argun on 17 March 2001. Within severalysl most of those
detained were released without charge. Howevedetdined men were not
released: Shamil Akhmadov, Muslim Batayev, Said-thagd Dikiyev, Ali
Eldiyev, Ayub Gairbekov, Ismail Khutiyev, Ali Labamov, Ruslan
Mezhidov, Abdul-Malik Tovzarkhanov, Ruslan Viskhadzev and Abdul-
Vakhab Yashurkayev.

14. The Government did not dispute the circums&anof Shamil
Akhamdov's detention as presented by the applic@imsy submitted that
in 2001 Shamil Akhmadov had been charged withraetinder Article 228
part 1 of the Criminal Code (possession of illeglaligs without the
intention to sell) in the Krasnodar Region, but veagigitive from justice
and had breached the obligation not to leave aicpéat location. On
13 February 2001 the Sovetskiy District Court oagmwodar had put Shamil
Akhmadov on the list of wanted persons. The Govemtrfurther submitted
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that Shamil Akhmadov was unemployed and had prablesth drugs and
alcohol.

2. The search for Shamil Akhmadov and the invatsbig. Discovery of
the bodies of the other detainees

15. Immediately after the detention of Shamil Aldtav the applicants
began a search for him with the relatives of theeoten men who had
“disappeared”. The search was primarily carried lmuthe first applicant,
while the second applicant remained at home to take of the children.
On numerous occasions, both in person and in \gritlrey made appeals to
the prosecutors of various levels, the Ministryrdérior, the administrative
authorities in Chechnya and the Special Represeataff the Russian
President in the Chechen Republic for rights arekdoms, media and
public figures.

16. In their letters to the authorities the appilits stated the
circumstances in which Shamil Akhmadov had beeaidetl and asked for
assistance and details of the investigation. Tts¢ &ipplicant kept a folder
of her letters to and responses from the authsrisbe also listed these in a
diary. However, she submitted that in February @rdt 2002 her house
was raided by soldiers who took away the folder toeddiary. As a result,
she was able to provide copies of very few letters.

17. The first applicant also personally visitedtedéion centres and
prisons in Chechnya as well as further afield i Northern Caucasus. She
also went to places where unidentified bodies vaseovered, and over a
period of 14 months saw dozens of corpses acrosshilya.

18. The applicants received hardly any substamtifggmation from the
authorities about the investigation into Shamil Alddov's disappearance.
On several occasions they were sent copies ofrdefmwarding their
requests to the various prosecutors' services.

19. On an unspecified date soon after 11 MarcH 268 first applicant
was questioned by an investigator at the militawgnmander's office. She
went there with the mother of another “disappearpdison. The first
applicant submitted that she had neither been sumachaor formally
requested to see the investigator, but persuagedu#rds to let her into the
compound. The investigator asked a lot of questiaiout the
circumstances of the detention and personal detelting to Shamil
Akhmadov such as what he had been wearing on thdelavas detained
and what size shoes he wore. The first applicagriesi the record of the
guestioning at the end of the interview.

20. Shortly after the “mopping-up” operation inglin, four bodies were
discovered on the edge of the Russian main militaage in Khankala.
These men were later identified as four of the 14simg persons who had
been detained in Argun on 12 March 2001.
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21. In areport of March 2001 NGO Memorial, citiag its source a staff
member of the military prosecutor's office in Khal# stated:

“On 13 March 2001, near the Russian military bas&lhankala, a military patrol
discovered a fresh grave, which they initially mgk for a landmine, in an irrigation
canal. Instead of a landmine, however, the arridagpers found human remains.
With the assistance of sappers and in the preseh@e military prosecutor, four
bodies were exhumed with bullet wounds to theirkbaand the back of their heads.
The bodies were cleaned and brought to [the base].

Because the bodies bore signs of violent death,nili¢ary prosecutor opened
criminal investigation no. 14/33/0132-01. Betweearbh 14 and 16, autopsies were
conducted by forensic experts in Rostov and aftat, ton 19 March 2001, the bodies
were transferred for burial to the Ministry of Emency Situations [Emercom] of
Chechnya.”

22. Several days later relatives identified th&s#& persons as those
detained on 12 March 2001 in Argun — Muslim Batgjy&yub Gairbekov,
Ismail Khutiyev and Abdul-Malik Tovzarkhanov.

23. Referring to documents in the criminal invgstion file, the
Government submitted in December 2005 that on 13cM&001 on
territory guarded by military unit no. 98311 thedies of Batsiyev,
Gairbekov, Khutiyev and Tovzarkhanov were foundhwitdications that
they had met a violent death. On the same day th&nmy prosecutor of
military unit no. 20102 opened criminal investigati no. 14/33/0132-01
under Article 105 part 2 (a) of the Criminal Code dggravated murder.

24. On 20 March 2001 the Chechnya Republican Pubges Office
informed the first applicant that her complaint Haekn forwarded to the
Argun Town Prosecutor's Office for investigation.

25. According to the information submitted by tiBovernment in
November 2005, on 23 March 2001 the Argun DistAcdsecutor's Office
opened criminal investigation file no. 45031 inke tabduction of several
persons from Argun. The first applicant was questtband granted victim
status in the proceedings on 17 April 2001. The ébament cited the first
applicant's statement in which she alleged thahsldebeen told by a fellow
detainee that her son had been detained on 15-16hM2001 at the
premises of the Argun VOVD.

26. On 19 April 2001 the first applicant wrote the military
prosecutor's office of military unit no. 20102 irh#&nkala. It replied on
24 April 2001 that her complaint had been forwardedhe Argun Town
Prosecutor's Office.

27. On 11 May 2001 criminal investigation file @&031 was
transferred to the military prosecutor's office roflitary unit no. 20102,
where on 16 May 2001 it was joined with file no/323/0132-01 that had
been opened in relation to the discovery of the bmdlies in Khankala.

28. On 28 May 2001 an investigator from the Arguawn Prosecutor's
Office informed the first applicant that a criminiavestigation into her
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son's disappearance had been opened on 23 Mardhudd@r Article 126
part 2 of the Criminal Code for the kidnapping wbtor more persons by a
group. The letter further stated that “in the ceuo$ the investigation the
involvement of military servicemen was establishedthe abduction of
your son and others” and informed her of the transf the investigation to
a military prosecutor.

29. On 3 September 2001 the Office of the Spé&maby of the Russian
President in the Chechen Republic for rights ame@doms informed the
first applicant that her complaint had been forveardo the Chechnya
Prosecutor's Office.

30. Eight or nine months after Mr Akhmadov's datn the first
applicant was told by one of the guards at thetanyticommander's office
that he had seen her son at the compound sevemalafter the “mopping-
up” operation. According to the guard, whose naheefirst applicant does
not know, her son had been detained there for atvoutweeks and had
been badly beaten. He had then been taken to anotation.

31. On 30 November 2001 the Argun Department @fitiberior issued a
note to the second applicant, certifying that slas searching for the family
breadwinner, Shamil Akhmadov, who had been missisgce
12 March 2001. The note was addressed to humaamtagencies and asked
them to help the family with five small children.

32. On 21 March 2002 an investigator at the Argown Prosecutor's
Office informed the first applicant that accordirtg “the available
information [the military prosecutor of military @wnno. 20102 has]
suspended the criminal investigation owing to dufai to identify those
responsible for the kidnapping of Akhmadov and thend to establish
[his] whereabouts”.

33. On an unspecified date the first applicantdilad to Khankala with
relatives of the other missing persons where tluystted their complaints
to a military prosecutor. She claims that sometiater she received a letter
from a military prosecutor informing her that thevestigation had been
resumed and that the efforts to establish the velbengts of Shamil
Akhmadov were continuing.

34. In early March 2002 local residents discovetleee bodies on
pasture land on the outskirts of Argun. The graas wxcavated by the
military in the presence of a prosecutor; appayentl had been booby-
trapped. One of the bodies had its head missingaasdidentified through
surgical scars by his wife as being that of Abdakkid Yashurkayev. He
too was one of the eleven missing detainees of Id#cM 2001. In
March 2002 Memorial reported the finding in thenegs-release “Argun.
Disappearance of Detainees. The 'Disappeared’ @uedrFin Unmarked
Graves”.

35. On 12 March 2002 the first applicant applieditie Shali District
Court for a declaration that her son was missingpider to obtain an
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allowance for the loss of the family breadwinner.Her application, she
stated the circumstances in which her son had detaned and the failure
of the investigative authorities to establish hiseveabouts.

3. Discovery of Shamil Akhmadov's body and furiimegstigation

36. In late April 2002 local residents discoveaeblody in a field outside
Argun. Upon making the discovery they requested thditary
commandant's office to exhume it, fearing thattath, might be booby-
trapped. One week later, military sappers exhurmedeémains and brought
it to the cemetery.

37. On 1 May 2002 the second applicant, who haxh ln&formed of the
discovery by her neighbours, went to the cemet8he was accompanied
by her husband's grandmother. The second applicammediately
recognised the clothes her husband had been weannipe day of his
apprehension. The body, which had been buried,exwasmed and reburied
in the family grave the same day. The second agpisaid that it consisted
of little more then bones. The right leg was brgkire upper half of the
skull was missing and there were bullet holes i ¢lothes in the chest
area. The second applicant collected the clothéstlagy are still in her
possession.

38. The first applicant did not see her son's badyat that time she was
out of Chechnya for medical reasons.

39. After the discovery of Shamil Akhmadov's bodlge applicants
continued their attempts to obtain further invesiigns into the
circumstances of his death.

40. According to the Government, on 23 May 2002 thilitary
prosecutor of military unit no. 20102 resumed thevestigation into
Mr Akhmadov's abduction.

41. On 8 June 2002 the Argun Prosecutor's Offisadd a certificate to
the second applicant to confirm that their officadhopened criminal
investigation no. 45031 into the abduction of hersband. It further
confirmed that “on 1 May 2002 a skeletal corpsamfunknown man was
discovered at the southern edge of Argun. Relatidestified him by the
remaining items of clothing as Shamil Akhmadov, rboron
17 December 1975 in Argun, who had been kidnappedutidentified
persons on 12 March 2001 in Argun. Examinationhef body showed that
Akhmadov's death had been caused by violence,ngdgy bullet holes in
the skull and the upper part of the neck-bone aadtires of the ribs.
Taking into account the absence of any soft tissmethe bones, death
probably occurred in March 2001".

42. On 21 August 2002 the civil registration offiof Argun issued a
death certificate for Shamil Akhmadov, and indidateat the death had
occurred on 22 March 2001 in Argun.
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43. On 5 May 2003 the SRJI, acting on the appigdrehalf, wrote to
the Argun Prosecutor's Office, asking him for nelsut the investigation
in criminal case no. 45031. They inquired if thedstigation, which had
been suspended in March 2002, had been reoperexdttadt discovery of
Mr Akhmadov's body. They also made requests fosdw®nd applicant and
the person who had discovered the body to be questj for a forensic
analysis to be ordered and for the clothes in wthehbody had been found
to be collected from the second applicant for exatnon. They further
inquired if any documents had been obtained rajatinthe operation in
Argun on 11-14 March 2001, if the commanding offsceand the
servicemen who had conducted the passport checkbden identified and
guestioned, if the officers responsible for theeusion of the detainees
had been questioned and if other detainees had ibemmiewed. Finally,
they inquired what investigative measures had lmaened out at the spot
where Shamil Akhmadov's body had been found.

44. On 14 June 2003 the Argun Town Prosecutorfeefeplied that
following the discovery of four bodies near theitaily base in Khankala on
13 March 2001 and the opening of an investigation thhe military
prosecutor of military unit no. 20102, criminal easo. 45031 had been
transferred to the military prosecutor, since thses were interrelated. It
added that the request for information had beewdnted to the military
prosecutor of military unit no. 20102, which woulgply on the substance
of the case.

45. On 25 July 2003 the military prosecutor ofitary unit no. 20102
replied to the SRJI that his office was investigatithe kidnapping of
Mr Akhmadov. However, the investigation had beespsinded owing to an
inability to identify the culprits. The letter stat that “the servicemen of the
Federal Security Service and of the Ministry of theerior of Chechnya
were continuing to take investigative measuresno those responsible for
the said crime, so that they could be taken in&tamly and prosecuted by
the military prosecutor's office”.

46. In their observations, the Government did rspute the
information concerning the investigation into tHedaction and killing of
Shamil Akhmadov as presented by the applicantsyifiRelon information
obtained from the General Prosecutor's Office, tieégrred to a number of
other procedural steps taken by the investigatibichvwere not mentioned
by the applicants. However, despite specific reggud®m the Court and
two reminders, the Government did not submit copfethe documents to
which they referred (see below).

47. According to the information submitted by t®vernment, in
November 2005 the investigation was adjourned odud3 2002 owing to a
failure to identify the culprits. On 17 March 20@de investigation was
resumed and transferred to the military prosecofothe United Group
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Alliance in the Northern Caucasus (UGA), where iaswassigned file
no. 34/00/0010-04D.

48. The Government also submitted to the Courteaistbn dated
10 May 2004 to open a new criminal investigatiole fo. 34/00/016-04
against persons unknown for the kidnapping of Mhiladov. This file had
become separated from the investigation file na.3d¢00/0010-04. The
order of the military prosecutor of the UGA sumrsad the information
and documents from criminal investigation file 84/00/0010-04 in the
following manner:

“On 12 March 2001 in Argun, Chechnya, unknown pessdetained Mr. Shamil
Said-Khasanovich Akhmadov, born on 15 December 1975 23 March 2001
investigator I. of the Argun District ProsecutdDffice opened criminal investigation
file no. 45031 under Article 126 part 2 (a), (g)tleé Criminal Code.

On 16 May 2001 the criminal investigation file wiwwarded to the military
prosecutor's office of military unit no. 20102, wheit was accepted for further
investigation and combined with criminal investigatfile no. 14/33/0132-01 D. This
investigation was subsequently transferred to thigany prosecutor of the UGA and
assigned case file number no. 34/00/0010-04 D.

The investigation established that on 1 May 20@2lleesidents discovered skeletal
human remains on the southern outskirts of ArguomFthe remaining items of
clothing he was identified by A. and [the secondplapnt] as their relative
Akhmadov Sh. and buried without a forensic report.

A., [the second applicant], D. and Kh., and [thestfiapplicant], who had been
granted victim status in the proceedings, were tipresd about the circumstances of
the case and confirmed the above stated events.

In addition, [the first applicant] stated that thady bore injuries to the upper part of
the skull and the ribs resembling bullet woundswieer, it is impossible to verify
the fact of Akhmadov's death in view of the relativabsolute refusal to exhume the
body.

Taking into account the above established circunests of detention of Akhmadov
and the finding of a male body on the outskirtsAojun, identified by relatives as
Akhmadov, the conclusion is that these events atdimked to the events that are the
subject of inquiry in file no. 34/00/0010-04 D. Aw criminal investigation should be
carried out, with copies of the documents fromittial investigation.”

49. The document further listed, without indicgtithe dates, several
orders of the prosecutors to open, transfer, adjoamd resume the
investigation. It also listed two records of questing of the first and second
applicants, three records of questioning of A. (Aladdov's grandmother),
three records of questioning of D. and Kh. (neightbly and a report on the
examination of the site dated 29 March 2004. Theudwent then listed a
number of requests for information that had beent s® various
departments of the Ministry of the Interior and itheeplies, without
specifying the subject matter of these documertte. drder concluded that



10 AKHMADOVA AND SADULAYEVA v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT

the new investigation was to be carried out undetickk 126 of the
Criminal Code (kidnapping) by the military prosemutf the UGA.

50. In their observations the Government furthatesl that a forensic
report on the person who had been buried as Shaktimadov listed
severe trauma to the head and the fracture of blmiés, which could have
resulted from heavy blows or from bullet woundse¥lalso referred to the
relatives' refusal to exhume the body, which hadlend impossible to
conclude with certainty whether Shamil Akhmadov Iradked died and of
what cause.

51. On 2 June 2004 the military prosecutor fornedrthe case file to the
Chechnya Prosecutor's Office for further investaygt because the
involvement of military personnel in Mr Akhmadowbduction could not
be established. On 18 June 2004 the file was retuto the military
prosecutors.

52. On 9 August 2004 the investigators collectedudnents relating to
the participation of interior troops in the spe@akration in Argun on 10 —
14 March 2001 from the central archives of the Btiyi of the Interior.
These documents were reviewed by the investigatods3 October 2004.

53. On 18 November 2004 the military prosecutathefUGA issued an
order to close the investigation in respect of isermen from the Ministry
of Defence and the Ministry of the Interior undetiéle 24 part one (1) of
the Code of Criminal Procedure (CCP), owing to @lsence of &orpus
delicti in their actions. On the same day the investigatieas again
forwarded to the Chechnya Prosecutor's Office, waircepted it for further
investigation in December 2004. It was assignedrfd. 61802.

54. According to information supplied by the Gaoweent, the
investigation was adjourned and reopened at leasttimes. On five
occasions the case file was transferred betweanugamilitary and civil
prosecutors. In November 2005 the investigatioro iMr Akhmadov's
kidnapping was still pending at the Chechnya Pratees Office.

4. Harassment of the applicants

55. The applicants submitted that after Akhmadayprehension they
were subjected to constant pressure and harasdgethie military, who
regularly arrived with APCs, and proceeded to sumtb and enter the
house. According to the applicants, 10-12 servicendressed in
camouflage, armed with automatic weapons and georegtimes wearing
balaclava masks and bullet-proof vests would dhiehouse. During these
raids they would break or take away the applicgntgerty, burn furniture,
and search the house and garden in an apparempatte find weapons.
They also threatened the applicants and their @nldsaid that Shamil
Akhmadov was probably “fighting in the mountaingidaat some point in
March 2002 took away the documents file and theydwth the list of
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letters to various authorities concerning the disspance kept by the first
applicant.

56. The applicants also submitted that they welgested to physical
assaults. At some point in the summer of 2001 edddilropped the second
applicant's youngest son, Fattakh, on the floosiceuhim to break a tooth.
On the same day they pushed her daughter Layusa thenstairs and she
broke a wrist.

57. They submitted that in December 2002 the sk@pplicant was
beaten so badly by the soldiers that she had tw dmspital and have six
stitches in her head.

58. At some point the applicants moved to Inguah&t an IDP camp in
Nazran. In late August 2003 the second applicavetted to Argun to visit
her relatives. She first visited her husband'srpategrandfather, and then
her husband's maternal grandmother where she gpennight. Upon
returning the next day to her husband's paterradnother, she saw that
the windows and doors of the house had been brdtengrandmother told
her that dozens of servicemen had broken into thesdn the night before,
looking for her and asking: “Where is Larisa? Whg &ou writing these
letters? What are you looking for?” The applicamslerstood the reference
to the letters to mean the letters that had beétewron their behalf by the
SRJI to the prosecutors, asking for informationudlibe investigation.

59. The second applicant returned to Argun onradd@0 October 2003.
After leaving Argun she went to another villageattend the burial of a
relative before returning to Argun a few days latén her way back she
was told by neighbours that the house of her hubbampaternal
grandmother had again been stormed by soldierswee looking for her.

60. The applicants submitted that they feare@torn to Argun even for
a short time. They did not submit any documentsupport of this part of
the complaint.

61. In their submissions, the Government infornted Court that
following the communication of the complaint a prostor had checked
this information. On 2 April 2004 the second apgfithad been questioned
about the circumstances of the attacks and condirmer allegations.
However her statements were not supported by angr atvidence. The
local hospital did not have records of the secopglieant's visits in
December 2002. Her neighbours and Shamil Akhnmadpaisdmother were
questioned in March and April 2004 but did not ¢onfthe information
about the ill-treatment of the applicant or herdr@n or the destruction of
their property. The Government concluded that tkeosd applicant's
allegations of violence against her would be furtheestigated.

62. Despite specific requests from the Court (dsmow), the
Government did not submit copies of any of the doents to which they
referred in this respect. It is unclear whether fresecutor's inquiries
resulted in any procedural decision, but the Gawemt referred to an order
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by the deputy Prosecutor of Chechnya on 23 Nover@gbéb, by which
time the investigation had been resumed.

5. Requests for the investigation files

63. In December 2003 the case was communicatethgoRussian
Government, who were requested to submit a cogiieinvestigation file
opened in relation to the abduction of Shamil Akdma In May 2004 the
Government responded that they could not providpieso of the file
because the case was still under investigationy Tdiso stated that its
submission would violate Article 161 of the CCP.eTGourt repeated its
request in June 2004, but the Government againietepthat the
investigation was in progress and that no copiesladfuments could be
submitted.

64. On 13 October 2005 the application was dedladenissible. At the
same time the Court again repeated its requebet&Gbvernment to submit
documents from the investigation files that hadnbepened in relation to
Shamil Akhmadov's abduction, as well as documeelsating to the
verification by the prosecutor of the second appiits allegations of
harassment. The Government were also requesteresernt an outline of
the investigations, including the timing of the oraprocedural steps and
the bodies responsible.

65. In November 2005 the Government submitted do@ments from
the criminal investigation file concerning Mr Akhdov's abduction, mostly
consisting of procedural decisions to open andawosfer the file and letters
informing the first applicant of the proceduralpgeThe Government also
presented an outline of the investigation (seegraps 47-54 above). They
stated that the submission of further documentawming Akhmadov's
abduction was impossible because they containete $tecrets. Their
disclosure would also violate Article 161 of the E6ecause they contained
information relating to the location and the acsioof the military and
special forces, as well as the addresses and pérdata of withesses who
had participated in counter-terrorist operationsCimechnya and of other
participants in the proceedings.

66. The Government did not submit any documenlating to the
investigation of the second applicant's complaifitsarassment.

B. Relevant domestic law

67. Until 1 July 2002 criminal-law matters werevgmed by the 1960
Code of Criminal Procedure of the Russian SovietleFaist Socialist
Republic. From 1 July 2002 the old Code was repldog the Code of
Criminal Procedure of the Russian Federation (CCP).

68. Article 125 of the new CCP lays down a judigieocedure for the
consideration of complaints. Orders of the invedtig or prosecutor to
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refuse to institute criminal proceedings or to tewe a case, and other
orders and acts or omissions which are liable tonige the constitutional
rights and freedoms of the parties to criminal pextings or to impede the
citizens' access to justice may be appealed agairestiocal district court,
which is empowered to check the lawfulness and tewof the impugned
decisions.

69. Article 161 of the new CCP prohibits the distire of information
from the preliminary investigation file. Under pa® of the Article,
information from the investigation file may be digad only with the
permission of a prosecutor or investigator and anlgo far as it does not
infringe the rights and lawful interests of the tmw to the criminal
proceedings or prejudice the investigation. Divadginformation about the
private lives of parties to criminal proceedingsheut their permission is
prohibited.

THE LAW

. THE GOVERNMENT'S PRELIMINARY OBJECTION AS TO
EXHAUSTION OF DOMESTIC REMEDIES

A. Arguments of the parties

1. The applicants

70. The applicants disagreed with the Governmaesttjection. First,
they argued that there was no suggestion that emgdy was available to
them which could lead to the identification and ighment of those
responsible.

71. Second, they considered that the potentiaffgctve domestic
remedies in their case were inadequate, ineffecéimd illusory. They
alleged the existence of an administrative praaticaon-compliance with
the requirement to investigate effectively abusasmitted by servicemen
and members of the police in Chechnya. They radete complaints
submitted to the Court by other persons claimingoéovictims of such
abuses, to Council of Europe documents, and to M@PDmedia reports.

72. Further, they argued that an appeal to a aruatprosecutor's office
would be ineffective in their case, because theestigation had not
progressed significantly with the passage of timed ahe known
investigative steps were inadequate.



14 AKHMADOVA AND SADULAYEVA v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT

73. In addition, they invoked the existence ofcsglecircumstances as a
result of the harassment to which they had beefestidd in response to
their complaints. After the incidents of August andtober 2003 they felt
afraid and had lost faith in the effectivenesshef internal remedies.

74. They added that in any event they had reqdebie prosecutor to
conduct an investigation into the disappearancesaihdequently the death
of Shamil Akhmadov. A criminal investigation should their opinion, be
regarded as a proper remedy in view of the nattittesr complaints and
the relevant practice of the Court. Despite theffores, no proper
investigation had taken place. They had not be@rrnred of progress in
the investigation, or of the decisions to transfer investigation file from
one authority to another or to adjourn or reopenitivestigation, and had
been unable to familiarise themselves with the dwants in the file. They
had thus been deprived of any meaningful possitiditappeal.

2. The Government

75. The Government requested the Court to decldme case
inadmissible as the applicants had failed to exhaosnestic remedies.
Referring to Article 125 of the CCP, they submittbdt the applicants had
failed to appeal against the decisions in the itigaton which they thought
had violated their rights. The investigation inbe tcircumstances of Shamil
Akhmadov's detention was continuing and an exanoinaif the complaint
by the Court would be premature. The Government atderred to the
Constitution and other legislation which permiteedappeal to the courts in
respect of the acts of the administrative bodieghvinfringed a citizen's
rights.

B. The Court's assessment

76. In the present case, the Court took no detiglmut the exhaustion
of domestic remedies at the admissibility stageyiritgafound that this
question was too closely linked to the merits. itl wiow proceed to
examine the arguments of the parties in the lightthe Convention
provisions and its relevant practice (for a receminmary sed=stamirov
and Others v. Russiao. 60272/00, 8 73-74, 12 October 2006).

77. The Court observes that the Russian legalesygprovides, in
principle, two avenues of recourse for the victiaisillegal and criminal
acts attributable to the State or its agents, nancelil and criminal
remedies.

78. As regards a civil action to obtain redress damage sustained
through the alleged illegal acts or unlawful cortdat State agents, the
Court has already found in a number of similar sabat this procedure
does not resolve the issue of effective remediethéncontext of claims
brought under Article 2 of the Convention. A cigdurt is unable to pursue
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any independent investigation and is incapablehaut the benefit of the
conclusions of a criminal investigation, of makiagy meaningful findings
regarding the identity of the perpetrators of fasalkaults, still less to
establish their responsibility (se&hashiyev and Akayeva v. Russia
nos. 57942/00 and 57945/00, § 119-121, 24 Febr2@dp; Estamirov and
Others v. Russjacited above, 8§ 77). In the light of the aboves thourt
finds that the applicants were not obliged to perhe civil remedies.

79. As regards criminal-law remedies, the Courseobes that the
applicants complained to the law-enforcement agsnchmediately after
Shamil Akhmadov's apprehension and that an inwshiy has been
pending since March 2001. The applicants and thee@onent dispute the
effectiveness of this investigation.

80. The Court considers that this limb of the Gawgent's preliminary
objection raises issues concerning the effectiwenet the criminal
investigation which are closely linked to the neeritf the applicants'
complaints. Thus, it considers that these mattdtsd be examined below
under the substantive provisions of the Convention.

[I. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 2 OF THE CONVENTON

81. The applicants alleged that the first applisason and second
applicant's husband had been unlawfully killed ggrds of the State. They
also submitted that the authorities had failed doycout an effective and
adequate investigation into the circumstances®apprehension and death.
They relied on Article 2 of the Convention, whidads:

“1. Everyone's right to life shall be protected law. No one shall be deprived of
his life intentionally save in the execution of entence of a court following his
conviction of a crime for which this penalty is pided by law.

2. Deprivation of life shall not be regarded afligted in contravention of this
article when it results from the use of force whishno more than absolutely
necessary:

(a) in defence of any person from unlawful violenc

(b) in order to effect a lawful arrest or to prevéhe escape of a person lawfully
detained,;

(c) in action lawfully taken for the purpose ofedjing a riot or insurrection.”
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A. The alleged failure to protect the right to lie of Shamil
Akhmadov

1. Arguments of the parties

82. The applicants maintained that there coulcthdeeasonable doubt
that Russian servicemen had detained Shamil Akhmadd 2 March 2001
and then deprived him of his life. In support agithcomplaint they referred
to the following evidence that was not challenggdte Government: the
fact that a large scale “sweeping” operation h&énalace in Argun on 11-
14 March 2001, as a result of which more than adhedh persons were
detained and eleven “disappeared”; the second s eye-witness
statement about her husband's detention by unifbiseevicemen who had
placed him in an APC; the letter of the Argun ToRrosecutor's Office
dated 28 May 2001, stating that military servicerhed been involved in
the abduction of Shamil Akhmadov; and, lastly, thet that a military
prosecutor had been in charge of the investigafibey also referred to the
letter from the Argun Prosecutor's Office of 8 J@@®2, which spoke of
Shamil Akhmadov's violent death as a result of ohsvounds, and to the
death certificate issued on 21 August 2002. Thgyexa that the State had
failed to explain how Shamil Akhmadov had died whii custody.

83. The Government submitted that there was nalasive evidence to
support the applicants' allegations that the aittherwere responsible for
the detention of Shamil Akhmadov or that he wasidé&aey referred to the
absence of a forensic report and the relativesisatfto carry out an
exhumation of the body that had been buried on ¥ 92, as well to the
difficult situation in Chechnya in general and thet that the witnesses had
left Chechnya.

2. The Court's assessment

(a) General considerations

84. As to the facts that are in dispute, the Coeitrs to its case-law
confirming the standard of proof as “beyond reabtmadoubt” in its
assessment of evidence (F&aar v. Turkey no. 25657/94, § 282, ECHR
2001-VIl (extracts)). Such proof may follow from ethcoexistence of
sufficiently strong, clear and concordant inferenoe of similar unrebutted
presumptions of fact. In this context, the condattthe parties when
evidence is being obtained has to be taken int@wdc(reland v. the
United Kingdom judgment of 18 January 1978, Series A no. 25,
p. 65, § 161).

85. The Court is sensitive to the subsidiary reatof its role and
recognises that it must be cautious in taking enrtile of a first-instance
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tribunal of fact, where this is not rendered undabie by the circumstances
of a particular case (see, for examplieKerr v. the United Kingdor(dec.),
no. 28883/95, 4 April 2000). Nonetheless, wheregaltions are made under
Articles 2 and 3 of the Convention the Court mugplg a particularly
thorough scrutiny (seenutatis mutandisthe Ribitsch v. Austrigudgment
of 4 December 1995, Series A no. 336, 8§ 32; Amdar v. Turkeycited
above, § 283) even if certain domestic proceedargkinvestigations have
already taken place.

86. Where the applicant makes ouprama faciecase and the Court is
prevented from reaching factual conclusions fok latdocuments that are
exclusively in the Government's possession, itoisthe Government to
argue conclusively why the documents in questiomno& serve to
corroborate the allegations made by the applicaaots,to provide a
satisfactory and convincing explanation of how #aents in question
occurred. The burden of proof is thus shifted t® @overnment and if it
fails in its arguments, issues will arise underndet2 and/or Article 3 (see
Togcu v. Turkey no. 27601/95, § 95, 31 May 200Bkkum and Others
v. Turkey no. 21894/93, § 211, ECHR 2005-... (extracts)).

(b) Application in the present case

87. The applicants submitted that Shamil Akhmad@s detained by
servicemen during a security operation and theedilin support of their
version of events they referred to a number ofuf@icelements, none of
which has been disputed by the Government.

88. In particular, the parties do not contest thate was a large scale
security operation in Argun on 11-14 March 2001e Tdovernment also do
not dispute that Shamil Akhmadov was detained onMEzch 2001 in
Argun by armed men in camouflage uniform and miiteehicles, such as
APCs. The Government did not suggest that the psrado detained the
applicants' relative were members of illegal pafiaany groups and there is
no material available to the Court to support saconclusion. It is further
uncontested that a number of persons were detainedg this operation,
although it appears that no custody records hagre peoduced in respect of
Shamil Akhmadov or the other detained persons. Tdmmestic
investigation also accepted these factual elemamiisproceeded to verify
the scope of the involvement of military servicemanthe events. The
Court can therefore consider it established that Akhmadov was
apprehended as part of a special security operationed out by State
agents in Argun on 12 March 2001.

89. The applicants stated that Mr Akhmadov's badg discovered in
late April 2002 on the outskirts of Argun bearingns of a violent death
and that on 1 May 2002 they had identified him ligy tlothes he had been
wearing on the day of his detention and buried hithe Government
expressed doubts as to whether Mr Akhmadov's deattbeen ascertained.
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They cited the absence of a forensic report andrétetives' refusal to
permit the exhumation of the body. However, the i€motes that in

June 2002 the Argun Prosecutor's Office issuedta ocenfirming that the

body had been identified by the relatives as th&hamil Akhmadov. The

note concluded that his death had been violentiew \of the extensive

injuries, including bullet holes in the skull bonesd put the time of death
at a point in March 2001, owing to the condition thie remains. In

August 2002 the Argun civil registration office ugsl a death certificate for
Shamil Akhmadov and indicated the date of deatbe#tsg 22 March 2001.
On the basis of these documents the Court acdegttsfor the purposes of
the domestic law, Shamil Akhmadov was killed in Ma2001 and that his
body was discovered in late April 2002.

90. The next point to be considered by the Caumvtether there is a
link between Shamil Akhmadov's arrest by Stateisemen and his death.
It remains unclear whether he was killed immedyjaédter his apprehension
or some time later. However, for official purpo$eswas presumed dead as
of March 2001, several days after the date of lpgrehension, as the
prosecutor's note and the official death certisaindicate. The link
between his kidnapping and death has furthermoen lzssumed in the
domestic proceedings, at least up to a certaint,paiu the Court takes this
into account. The fact that Mr Akhmadov was dresedtle same clothes as
those he was wearing on the day of his detentioniges further support
for this conclusion. The Government have not gigeg version of events
different from the one presented by the applicants.

91. Finally, and most disturbingly, it has not edisputed that the
discovery of Shamil Akhmadov's body followed theding of at least four
other bodies of people who were detained in Argarl® March 2001, all
of whom bore signs of a violent death. Three ofrtheere discovered on
the day following their apprehension within the ws#y zone of a military
unit. The Court finds that these facts stronglygasy that the deaths of
these detainees were part of the same sequencevemitseas their
apprehension and support the assumption that thexg wxtra-judicially
executed by State agents.

92. Having regard to the above, the Court consideat there exists a
body of evidence that attains the standard of prbefyond reasonable
doubt”, and thus makes it possible to hold theeStatthorities responsible
for Shamil Akhmadov's death. In the absence of eefgrence to the
legitimacy of that act, it follows that there haseh a violation of Article 2
of the Convention in this respect.
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B. The alleged inadequacy of the investigation intthe abduction

1. Arguments of the parties

93. The applicants alleged that the authoritie$ fasled to conduct an
effective investigation into the circumstances dfia®il Akhmadov's
detention and death, in violation of their procediuobligations under
Article 2. They argued that the investigation &brt of the standards of the
European Convention and of the national legislatibmey pointed to the
passage of considerable time — more than five yearwithout the
investigation producing any known results. Relymy the Government's
submissions they argued that the investigators faddd to take the
necessary steps immediately after the detentiomroet, and then again
after the discovery of the body. A number of inigegive actions had
occurred only after the communication of the conmpldo the Russian
Government, and other important steps were nevantasuch as the
questioning of other witnesses of the detentiore ithentification and
questioning of those in charge of the military @gten and the ordering of a
forensic examination. The authorities had systesahyi failed to inform the
applicants of the proceedings and the applicantd been given no
information about important procedural steps. Thewn attempts to
intensify the investigation had resulted in theminbe subjected to
intimidation and violence.

94. The Government disagreed. They stressedhbahvestigation was
being carried out in accordance with the domesiigslation, that the first
applicant had been granted victim status and hadelvary possibility to
participate effectively in the proceedings.

2. The Court's assessment

95. The Court has on many occasions stated thaililigation to protect
the right to life under Article 2 of the Conventicgiso requires by
implication that there should be some form of effecofficial investigation
when individuals have been killed as a result @ tise of force. It has
developed a number of guiding principles to be ofetd for an
investigation to comply with the Convention requients (for a recent
summary see, for examplBazorkina v. Russjano. 69481/01, 88 117-119,
27 July 2006).

96. In the present case, an investigation wasiechrout into the
kidnapping and subsequent murder of the applicaalative. The Court
must assess whether that investigation met theresgents of Article 2 of
the Convention. In this respect the Court notes itisaknowledge of the
proceedings at issue is limited as a result of Glowernment's failure to
submit the materials from the investigation fileedsparagraphs 63-65
above).
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97. The Court notes that the Government did nquest the application
of Rule 33 8§ 2 of the Rules of Court, which permatgestriction on the
principle of the public character of the documedeposited with the Court
for legitimate purposes, such as the protectionational security and the
private life of the parties, as well as the int&sesf justice. The Court
further remarks that the provisions of Article 16flthe Code of Criminal
Procedure, to which the Government refer, do netlpde disclosure of the
documents from a pending investigation file, buhea set out a procedure
for and limits to such disclosure. The Governmaailetl to specify the
nature of the documents and the grounds on whiely ttould not be
disclosed (see, for similar conclusiomdikheyev v. Russjano. 77617/01,
§ 104, 26 January 2006). The Court also notes ithah number of
comparable cases that have been reviewed by operding before the
Court, similar requests have been made to the u€sovernment and the
documents from the investigation files submittedhaiit reference to
Article 161 (see, for exampl&hashiyev and Akayeva v. Russided
above, §46; andMagomadov and Magomadov V. Russfdec.),
no. 58752/00, 24 November 2005). For these reasbasCourt considers
the Government's explanations concerning the discd of the case file
insufficient to justify the withholding of the kemformation requested by
the Court.

98. Drawing inferences from the respondent Govemtta behaviour
when evidence is being obtained ($estand v. the United Kingdoncited
above, § 161), the Court will assess the merith®fcomplaint on the basis
of the available information.

99. The Court first notes that the authorities evenmediately made
aware of Shamil Akhmadov's apprehension because apglicants
personally visited the military commander's offiaed the prosecutor's
offices in the days following 12 March 2001. Theokgants also submitted
that because of the large number of detainees ribge€utor of Chechnya
and other high-ranking officials had visited Argisee paragraph 13 above)
and thus the information about the detention oh$haAkhmadov and other
men by unidentified servicemen had been brougtitdm attention.

100. The investigation was opened on 23 March 28@l/en days after
the men were detained. This delay in itself wadbldiato affect the
effectiveness of the investigation of a crime swsh abduction, where
crucial action has to be taken in the first daysrahe event.

101. When the investigation started, it was pldagby inexplicable
delays in performing the most essential tasksppiears that the second
applicant, who had witnessed Mr Akhmadov's detanticas not questioned
until much later in the proceedings. The scene wnaisinspected until
March 2004, after the complaint had been commueicéd the respondent
Government. It also appears that the neighbour® weestioned only in
2004. When Mr Akhmadov's body was found, no immtedection was
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taken to obtain a proper forensic report, althoitghppears that at least
some attempt was made to record the condition ef rdmains (see
paragraph 50 above). Such delays and omissions hemgelves

compromised the effectiveness of the investigasiod were bound to have
a negative impact on the prospects of uncoveriadrtith.

102. However, the Court finds that the investiyatican only be
described as dysfunctional when it tried to esshblihe extent of the
involvement of military or security personnel in Mkhmadov's abduction
and subsequent death. By May 2001 it had alreaéy lestablished that
Mr Akhmadov had been detained by military or segupersonnel and the
file was transferred to the military prosecutorfice, which is responsible
for the investigation of crimes committed by seewen. It is unclear what
steps were taken by the military prosecutors teestihe crime, but it was
not until August 2004 that they collected documergtating to the
participation of the interior troops in the “sweegi operation in Argun.
These documents were only reviewed in October 2@0does not appear
that the investigators questioned any of the semen who carried out the
operation in Argun and were involved in the detemtf Mr Akhmadov or
his fellow detainees. The Government did not explavhy on
18 November 2004 the investigation arrived at thleactusion of the
absence of a&orpus delictiand discontinued the prosecution of the still
unidentified servicemen.

103. Furthermore, the Government submitted noamgtion as to why
on 10 May 2004 the military prosecutor of the UG&cidled to separate the
investigation into Mr Akhmadov's abduction from ttlzarried out into the
abduction and subsequent murder of the other metainge on
12 March 2001 during the same security operatioAargun. It is unclear if
the investigation into these events, including timeling of three bodies
within the security perimeter of a military unit,ooluced any results which
might have shed light on what had happened to Shsichmadov.

104. Finally, as to the manner in which the inigdion was conducted,
the Court notes that in a period of five and a haHrs the investigation was
adjourned and reopened at least six times. It wassferred from one
prosecutor's office to another on at least fiveasmns for no apparent
reason. The second applicant, Mr Akhmadov's wifes wot granted victim
status in the proceedings. The first applicant, withstanding her
procedural status, was not duly informed of itsgoess, and the only
information occasionally communicated to her conedrthe adjournment
and reopening of the proceedings.

105. The Court notes with great concern that abminof cases have
come before it which suggest that the phenomendiisédppearances” is
well known in Chechnya (sedazorkina v. Russjano. 69481/01,
27 July 2006;Imakayeva v. Russiano. 7615/02, 9 November 2006; and
Luluyev and Others v. Russiao. 69480/01, 9 November 2006). A number
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of international reports point to the same alarngogclusion. Although in
the present case the body of the “disappeared’opergas eventually
discovered, this was more than a year after hissaand not in any way
down to the efforts of the law-enforcement authesit

106. Moreover, the stance of the prosecutor'sefiifter the news of the
detention was communicated to it by the applicaigsificantly contributed
to the likelihood of the deceased's disappearasep necessary steps were
taken either in the crucial first days or week&maftetention, or later. Their
conduct in the face of the applicants' justifiednptaints creates a strong
presumption of at least acquiescence in the simaéind raises strong
doubts as to the objectivity of the investigatidime Court finds that the
law-enforcement machinery's failure to take theeseary steps effectively
put the “disappeared” person outside the proteatiothe law, a situation
which is totally unacceptable in a democratic sgcigoverned by the
principles of respect for human rights and the ailiaw.

107. In the light of the foregoing, and with redjao the inferences
drawn from the respondent Government's presentafidhe evidence, the
Court finds that the authorities failed to carryt @n effective criminal
investigation into the circumstances surrounding thsappearance and
death of Shamil Akhmadov. It accordingly dismisske Government's
preliminary objection as regards the applicantftifa to exhaust domestic
remedies within the context of the criminal invgation, and holds that
there has been a violation of Article 2 on thiscaot also.

[ll. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 3 OF THE CONVENTON

108. Referring to the Court's established case-ldve applicants
claimed that they were victims of treatment fallimgthin the scope of
Article 3 of the Convention as a result of the dslguand emotional distress
they had suffered as a result of the disappearahtteeir son and husband.
They relied on Article 3, which provides:

“No one shall be subjected to torture or to inhunmaindegrading treatment or
punishment.”

109. The Court notes that while a family memberaotfdisappeared
person” can claim to be a victim of treatment cantrto Article 3 (se&urt
v. Turkey judgment of 25 May 199&eports of Judgments and Decisions
1998-111, 88 130-34; an8azorkina v. Russjaited above, 88 139-141), the
same principle would not usually apply to situasiavhere the person taken
into custody has later been found dead (see, famgle, Tanh v. Turkey
no. 26129/95, § 159, ECHR 2001-11l (extracts))tha latter cases the Court
would limit its findings to Article 2. However, ifh period of initial
disappearance is long it may in certain circumstargive rise to a separate
issue under Article 3 (sgeongadze v. Ukraineno. 34056/02, 88 184-186,
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ECHR 2005-...;Luluyev and Others v. Russiao. 69480/01, 88 114-115,
ECHR 2006-... (extracts)).

110. In the present case, the news about Shanhindkiov's death was
preceded by a period of more than one year durimghwhe was deemed to
have disappeared and the investigation into hiedpging was conducted.
There was thus a distinct period during which tpeliaants lived in the
constant state of uncertainty, anguish and distregsinevitably attends the
disappearance of a loved one. The Court will tleeeeproceed to examine
whether the authorities' conduct in this period anted to a violation of
Article 3 in respect of the applicants.

111. It notes that the applicants are the motheraife of the person
who disappeared. The second applicant witnessetiusdrand's detention.
Despite their applications to various authorities proper investigation into
the abduction and subsequent death of their clels¢ivie has taken place.
The applicants have never been given any plausédplanation or
information as to what became of Shamil Akhmadderdtis detention and
the circumstances of his death. The Court alsosntgdindings concerning
the failure to grant the second applicant victitss, the lack of access to
the case-file and the scant information they reséiduring the proceedings.

112. The Court therefore finds that the applicanifered distress and
anguish as a result of the disappearance of tleirand husband and of
their inability to find out what had happened talor to receive up-to-date
information on the investigation. The manner in ebhitheir complaints
have been dealt with by the authorities must besidened to constitute
inhuman treatment within the meaning of ArticleThe Court concludes
that there has been a violation of Article 3 inpexst of the applicants.

IV. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 5 OF THE CONVENTON

113. The applicants submitted that Shamil Akhmadwoad been
subjected to unacknowledged detention, in violatminthe principles
defined by Article 5 of the Convention, which proes:

“l1. Everyone has the right to liberty and security person. No one shall be
deprived of his liberty save in the following casesl in accordance with a procedure
prescribed by law:

(a) the lawful detention of a person after conwittby a competent court;

(b) the lawful arrest or detention of a personrion- compliance with the lawful
order of a court or in order to secure the fulfithef any obligation prescribed by
law;

(c) the lawful arrest or detention of a persoreetd for the purpose of bringing
him before the competent legal authority on reaBlmasuspicion of having
committed an offence or when it is reasonably aereid necessary to prevent his
committing an offence or fleeing after having deoe
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(d) the detention of a minor by lawful order fdmet purpose of educational
supervision or his lawful detention for the purpask bringing him before the
competent legal authority;

(e) the lawful detention of persons for the préimof the spreading of infectious
diseases, of persons of unsound mind, alcoholidsuw addicts or vagrants;

(f) the lawful arrest or detention of a persomtevent his effecting an unauthorised
entry into the country or of a person against whamtion is being taken with a view
to deportation or extradition.

2. Everyone who is arrested shall be informed pthmin a language which he
understands, of the reasons for his arrest andyoflarge against him.

3. Everyone arrested or detained in accordanceh wite provisions of
paragraph 1 (c) of this Article shall be broughomptly before a judge or other
officer authorised by law to exercise judicial powad shall be entitled to trial within
a reasonable time or to release pending trial. &elemay be conditioned by
guarantees to appear for trial.

4. Everyone who is deprived of his liberty by atrer detention shall be entitled to
take proceedings by which the lawfulness of hiewudn shall be decided speedily
by a court and his release ordered if the detergioot lawful.

5. Everyone who has been the victim of arrestedemtion in contravention of the
provisions of this Article shall have an enforceatijht to compensation.”

114. The Government stressed that the authotites possessed legal
grounds for detaining Shamil Akhmadov, as an arvemtrant had been
issued by the district court in Krasnodar on 13 rkaly 2001 (see
paragraph 14 above). They noted, however, thaihtrestigation had failed
to establish that he had in fact been detainedabyenforcement bodies.
The identity of those responsible remained unknown.

115. The Court has previously noted the fundanhémiaortance of the
guarantees contained in Article 5 for securingrigat of individuals in a
democracy to be free from arbitrary detention. &s halso stated that
unacknowledged detention is a complete negatiothede guarantees and
discloses a very grave violation of Article 5 (s€acek v. Turkey
no. 25704/94, § 164, 27 February 2001; aothyev v. Russiaited above,
§ 122).

116. The Court has found it established that Sh#@khmadov was
detained by State servicemen on 12 March 2001 glarisecurity operation
in Argun and was not seen alive thereafter (seagraphs 87-92 above).
The Government have not furnished any explanatorhis detention and
any documents of substance from the domestic iga&in into his
apprehension. The Court thus concludes that he wasictim of
unacknowledged detention.

117. The Court further considers that the autlsrishould have been
more alert to the need for a thorough and prompestigation of the



AKHMADOVA AND SADULAYEVA v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT 25

applicants’ complaints that their relative had bdetained and taken away
in life-threatening circumstances. However, the i€sUdindings above in
relation to Article 2 and in particular the condoétthe investigation leave
no doubt that the authorities failed to take proaud effective measures to
safeguard Mr Akhmadov against the risk of disapgece.

118. Consequently, the Court finds that Shamil Akdov was held in
unacknowledged detention without any of the safetgiacontained in
Article 5. This constitutes a particularly graveolation of the right to
liberty and security enshrined in Article 5 of envention.

V. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 6 OF THE CONVENTIM

119. The applicants stated that they had beenivéepof access to a
court, contrary to the provisions of Article 6 betConvention, the relevant
parts of which provide:

“In the determination of his civil rights and oldigons ..., everyone is entitled to a
fair ... hearing ... by [a] ... tribunal...”

120. The applicants alleged that they had beeredafifective access to
a court because a civil claim for damages woulcehdepended entirely on
the outcome of the criminal investigation into ttsappearance. In the
absence of any findings by the investigators, theyld not effectively
apply to a court.

121. The Government disputed this allegation.

122. The Court finds that the applicants’ complainder Article 6
concerns essentially the same issues as thosessigtunder the procedural
aspect of Article 2 and under Article 13. It shoaldo be noted that the
applicants submitted no information to prove tltadieged intention to apply
to a domestic court to claim compensation. In theiseumstances, the
Court finds that no separate issues arise undalé\g of the Convention.

VI. ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 13 OF THE CONVENTON
READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ARTICLES 2, 3 AND 5

123. The applicants complained that they had laefiective remedy in
respect of the violations alleged under Article8 2nd 5 of the Convention.
They referred to Article 13 of the Convention, whigrovides:

“Everyone whose rights and freedoms as set fortlthie] Convention are violated

shall have an effective remedy before a nation#thaity notwithstanding that the
violation has been committed by persons actingninféicial capacity.”

124. The Government disagreed. They stated tleaintrestigation was
being conducted in accordance with the domestitslkgn, and that the
first applicant had been granted victim status &ad every means of
participating effectively in the proceedings.
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125. The Court reiterates that Article 13 of then@ntion guarantees
the availability at the national level of a remadyenforce the substance of
the Convention rights and freedoms in whatever ftray might happen to
be secured in the domestic legal order. Givenuhddmental importance of
the right to protection of life, Article 13 requ#ein addition to the payment
of compensation where appropriate, a thorough #iedtere investigation
capable of leading to the identification and pumisht of those responsible
for the deprivation of life and infliction of treaaent contrary to Article 3,
including effective access for the complainanti® investigation procedure
leading to the identification and punishment of sthoresponsible (see
Anguelova v. Bulgariano. 38361/97, 88 161-162, ECHR 2002-A&senov
and Otherscited above, § 117; ar®liheyla Aydin v. Turkegio. 25660/94,
§ 208, 24 May 2005). The Court further reiteratest the requirements of
Article 13 are broader than a Contracting Statblgyation under Article 2
to conduct an effective investigation (s®@ehan v. Turkeyno. 25656/94,
§ 384, 18 June 2002, akthashiyev and Akayeyaited above, § 183).

126. In view of the Court's findings above wittgaed to Articles 2
and 3, these complaints are clearly “arguable’ther purposes of Article 13
(seeBoyle and Rice v. the United Kingdojadgment of 27 April 1988,
Series A no. 131, 8§ 52). The applicants should ra@iegly have been able
to avail themselves of effective and practical rdieg capable of leading to
the identification and punishment of those resdadasand to an award of
compensation, for the purposes of Article 13.

127. 1t follows that in circumstances where, asehehe criminal
investigation into the disappearance and death wma$fective (see
paragraphs 95-107 above) and the effectivenessiyfother remedy that
may have existed, including the civil remedies ssggd by the
Government, was consequently undermined, the State failed in its
obligation under Article 13 of the Convention.

128. Consequently, there has been a violation dicla 13 of the
Convention in connection with Articles 2 and 3 lo¢ tConvention.

129. As regards the applicants' reference to lerbcof the Convention,
the Court refers to its findings of a violationtbfs provision set out above.
In the light of this it considers that no separst®ies arise in respect of
Article 13 read in conjunction with Article 5 oféiConvention, which itself
contains a number of procedural guarantees relatetie lawfulness of
detention.
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VIl. OBSERVANCE OF ARTICLES 34 AND 3881 (a) OFHE
CONVENTION

A. Hindrance of the right to individual application

130. The applicant complained that she has bednedad to
harassment in reprisal for her application to tloeir€ This complaint will
be examined under Article 34 of the Convention,chireads:

“The Court may receive applications from any persoalaiming to be the victim of
a violation by one of the High Contracting Partigfsthe rights set forth in the
Convention or the Protocols thereto. The High Casiing Parties undertake not to
hinder in any way the effective exercise of thghti”

131. The Government submitted that these allegstiowere
unsubstantiated and not supported by anything othan the second
applicant's statements. The investigation of hemgdaint would continue.

132. The Court reiterates that it is of the utmmsportance for the
effective operation of the system of individual Bggtion instituted by
Article 34 that applicants should be able to comicate freely with the
Court without being subjected to any form of preesuom the authorities
to withdraw or modify their complaints. In this dert, “pressure” includes
not only direct coercion and flagrant acts of intdation, but also other
improper indirect acts or contacts designed toudide or discourage
applicants from using a Convention remedy. Theeassuwhether or not
contacts between the authorities and an applicaauat to unacceptable
practices from the standpoint of Article 34 mustdatermined in the light
of the particular circumstances of the case. Incthrgext of the questioning
of applicants about their applications under then@ation by authorities
exercising a domestic investigative function, thidl depend on whether
the procedures adopted have involved a form dfitiland unacceptable
pressure which may be regarded as hindering thecisgeof the right of
individual application (see, for exampldydin v. Turkey,cited above,
88 115-117; andSalman v. Turkey{GC], no. 21986/93, 8§ 130, ECHR
2000-V1I).

133. In the present case, the second applicamrreef to serious
incidents that had occurred in retaliation for agplication to the Court.
The Court notes with regret the Government's failiar submit documents
relating to the investigation of this complaint€ggaragraphs 61-62 above).
It notes, however, that the Government cited theeabe of any medical
records to corroborate the second applicant's ati®gs concerning the
injuries she and her children had sustained. Ith&ur notes that the
Government referred to the record of the questmpnai the second
applicant's neighbours and relatives, all of whoemied the incidents as
presented by the second applicant. Finally, it athat the applicant herself



28 AKHMADOVA AND SADULAYEVA v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT

has not submitted any evidence of her allegatidherdahan her statements,
which have not been corroborated by other evidemcehe domestic
proceedings.

134. In short, the Court does not have sufficieraterial before it to
conclude that the respondent Government have embl#teir obligations
under Article 34 of the Convention by putting unguessure on the second
applicant in order to dissuade her from pursuing dugplication to the
Court.

B. Failure by the Government to submit documentsequested by the
Court

135. The Court reiterates, firstly, that procegdinn certain types of
applications do not in all cases lend themselves figorous application of
the principle whereby a person who alleges somegtimmust prove that
allegation and, secondly, that it is of the utmogiortance for the effective
operation of the system of individual petition ingied under Article 34 of
the Convention that States should furnish all nesmgsfacilities to make
possible a proper and effective examination ofiappbns.

136. This obligation requires the Contracting &ato furnish all
necessary facilities to the Court, whether it isidecting a fact-finding
investigation or performing its general duties @gards the examination of
applications. It is inherent in the proceedingstial to cases of this nature,
where individual applicants accuse State agentsiaéating their rights
under the Convention, that in certain instancess ibnly the respondent
State that has access to information capable abloorating or refuting
these allegations. A failure on a Government's pgartsubmit such
information which is in their hands without a sktctory explanation may
not only give rise to the drawing of inferenced@athe well-foundedness of
the applicant's allegations, but may also refleegatively on the level of
compliance by a respondent State with its obligetio under
Article 38 § 1 (a) of the Convention. In a case kehine application raises
issues of the effectiveness of the investigatidre tdocuments of the
criminal investigation are fundamental to the els&ament of facts and
their absence may prejudice the Court's proper axamn of the complaint
both at the admissibility stage and at the merttgyes (seeTanrikulu
v. Turkeycited above, § 70).

137. The Court observes that it has on severasiogs requested the
Russian Government to submit copies of the invastg files opened into
the disappearances of the applicants' relative.eVigence contained in that
file was regarded by the Court as crucial to thaldshment of the facts in
the present case. The Court notes, further, tHsstfound insufficient the
reasons cited by the Government for refusing teloé® the requested
documents (see paragraph 97 above). Having regatigdetimportance of
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cooperation by the respondent government in Comemroceedings and
the difficulties associated with the establishn@rthe facts in cases such as
the present one, the Court finds that the Russiavefdment fell short of
their obligations under Article 38 § 1 of the Contten on account of their
failure to submit copies of the documents requesterespect of Shamil
Akhmadov's disappearance.

VIl. APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF THE CONVENTION

138. Atrticle 41 of the Convention provides:

“If the Court finds that there has been a violatigrthe Convention or the Protocols
thereto, and if the internal law of the High Contiiag Party concerned allows only
partial reparation to be made, the Court shalheifessary, afford just satisfaction to
the injured party.”

A. Pecuniary damage

139. The applicants claimed damages in respektrdikhmadov's lost
wages from the time of his arrest and subsequesdpgearance. They
claimed a total of 1,524,202 Russian roubles (RWRyer this head
(44,236 euros (EUR)).

140. They claimed that Shamil Akhmadov had woras@ butcher prior
to 1999. The submitted that, even though he wamplwyed at the time of
his arrest, it was reasonable to suppose that ddwrave found a job and
earned at least the official minimum wage until 20&hen he would have
reached life expectancy age for men in Russia.apmpéicants assumed that
both they and Mr Akhmadov's five minor children Wwbihave been
financially dependent on him from March 2001 urkk first applicant
reached the age of 70 (that being the life expegtéor women in Russia)
and their children reached the age of 18. Theyutatied his earnings for
that period, taking into account an average 15%atioh rate and argued
that each applicant could count on 30% and eadd ohi5% of the total of
RUR 1,481,202.

141. The applicants also claimed the reimbursemieRUR 43,000 they
had spent on Mr Akhmadov's funeral.

142. The Government regarded these claims as b@aselippositions
and unfounded.

143. The Court reiterates that there must be ar dausal connection
between the damage claimed by the applicant andvitbiation of the
Convention, and that this may, in an appropriasecaclude compensation
in respect of loss of earnings (see, among oth#vosties, Cakici cited
above). Having regard to its above conclusionindgts that there is a direct
causal link between the violation of Article 2 iespect of the applicants'
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son and husband and the loss by the applicantieofimancial support

which he could have provided. The Court furthedénthat the loss of

earnings also applies to the dependent childrentlaaudit is reasonable to
assume that Mr Akhmadov would eventually have ladesearnings from

which the applicants would have benefited. Haviegard to the applicants'
submissions and the fact that Mr Akhmadov was ngpleyed at the time

of his apprehension, the Court awards EUR 15,0a8eapplicants jointly

in respect of pecuniary damage, plus any tax tteat o chargeable on that
amount.

B. Non-pecuniary damage

144. The applicants claimed EUR 20,000 each irpe@s of non-
pecuniary damage for the suffering they had endaeed result of the loss
of their son and husband, the indifference showithkeyauthorities towards
them and the failure to provide any information atbthe fate of their
relative.

145. The Government found the amount claimed exadged.

146. The Court has found a violation of Articles®2and 13 of the
Convention on account of the unacknowledged deterdnd death of the
applicants' son and husband. The applicants theeséhve been found to
have been victims of a violation of Article 3 oktl&onvention in relation to
the emotional distress and anguish they endured. durt thus accepts
that they have suffered non-pecuniary damage wheamnot be
compensated for solely by the findings of violatioit awards each of the
applicants EUR 20,000, plus any tax that may begdable thereon.

C. Costs and expenses

147. The applicants were represented by the SRHy submitted a
schedule of costs and expenses that included ofseaud interviews in
Ingushetia and Moscow, at a rate of EUR 50 per hand the drafting of
legal documents submitted to the Court and the dtmauthorities, at a
rate of EUR 50 per hour for SRJI lawyers and EUR fér hour for SRJI
senior staff. The aggregate claim in respect ofscasd expenses related to
the applicants' legal representation amounted tdR E12,074, which
comprised:

* EUR 700 for the preparation of the initial applioat

« EUR 3,488 for the preparation and translation ofit@ahal

submissions;

* EUR 150 for the correspondence related to the ggc¢hreat;

* EUR 6,085 for the preparation and translation a #pplicant's

reply to the Government's memorandum;
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e EUR 850 in connection with the preparation of addal

correspondence with the Court;

* EUR 47 for postal expenses.

148. The applicants also claimed EUR 754 for adbtrative costs
(corresponding to 7% of the legal fees).

149. The Government did not dispute the detailsghef calculations
submitted by the applicant, but contended that shen claimed was
excessive for a non-profit organisation such asSiRél.

150. The Court has to establish, first, whether ¢bsts and expenses
indicated by the applicants were actually incuad, second, whether they
were necessary (sd&cCann and Othersited above, § 220).

151. The Court notes that, under a contract emter® by the first
applicant in November 2005, she agreed to pay BlH'Srepresentative the
costs and expenses incurred for representatiorrébdtie Court, subject to
delivery by the Court of a final judgment concemthe present application
and to payment by the Russian Federation of tha lemsts should these be
granted by the Court. Having regard to the rategle work of the SRJI
lawyers and senior staff and to the administratbests, the Court is
satisfied that these rates are reasonable ancttréfle expenses actually
incurred by the applicants' representatives.

152. Further, it has to be established whetherctiets and expenses
incurred for legal representation were necessahng. Court notes that this
case was relatively complex and required a subataarnount of research
and preparation. It notes, however, that the agpte did not submit any
observations on the merits and that the case iedolvery little
documentary evidence, in view of the Governmemifasal to submit the
case file. The Court thus doubts that research neagsssary to the extent
claimed by the representative.

153. Having regard to the details of the claim®bnsited by the
applicants and acting on an equitable basis, thertCawards them the
amount of EUR 8,000, less EUR 715 received by widggal aid from the
Council of Europe, together with any value-added that may be
chargeable.

D. Default interest

154. The Court considers it appropriate that teawt interest should
be based on the marginal lending rate of the Eampgeentral Bank, to
which should be added three percentage points.
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT UNANIMOUSLY
1. Dismisseghe Government's preliminary objection;

2. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 2 of tBonvention in
respect of Shamil Akhmadov;

3. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 2 of thonvention in
respect of the failure to conduct an effective stigation into the
circumstances in which Shamil Akhmadov died;

4. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 3 of thonvention in
respect of both applicants;

5. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 5 of tBonvention in
respect of Shamil Akhmadov;

6. Holdsthat no separate issues arise under Article BeoQonvention;

7. Holds that there has been a violation of Article 13 twé Convention in
respect of the alleged violations of Articles 2 @&af the Convention;

8. Holdsthat no separate issues arise under Article XBeoConvention in
respect of the alleged violations of Article 5;

9. Holds that there has been no failure to comply with &e&ti34 of the
Convention, in so far as the second applicant'sptaims of undue
pressure;

10. Holds that there has been a failure to comply with Aeti88 § 1 (a) of
the Convention in that the Government have refusedsubmit
documents requested by the Court;

11. Holds
() that the respondent State is to pay the agpbc within three
months from the date on which the judgment becorfieal in
accordance with Article 44 82 of the Conventioe tfollowing
amounts, to be converted into Russian roubleseadale of settlement:
() EUR 15,000 (fifteen thousand euros) in respefcipecuniary
damage to the applicants jointly;
(i) EUR 20,000 (twenty thousand euros) in respett non-
pecuniary damage to the first applicant;
(i) EUR 20,000 (twenty thousand euros) in respe€ non-
pecuniary damage to the second applicant;
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(iv) EUR 7,285 (seven thousand two hundred eidjivey euros) in

respect of costs and expenses;

(v) any tax that may be chargeable on the abovamuats;
(b) that from the expiry of the above-mentionede¢h months until
settlement simple interest shall be payable onath@ve amounts at a
rate equal to the marginal lending rate of the Beam Central Bank
during the default period plus three percentagatppi

Done in English, and notified in writing on 10 M2p07, pursuant to
Rule 77 88 2 and 3 of the Rules of Court.

Sgren NELSEN Christos ®zaAKIS
Registrar President



